D47 215

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complainant,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar filed its Complaint on May 23, 1995. The Respondent filed a timely response thereto. The Florida Bar filed a Request for Admissions on June 21, 1995, after which Flowers filed his Response.

Pursuant to timely notice, Judge John R. Sloop conducted the final hearing in this matter on July 28, 1995. During the course of the final hearing, the bar presented the testimony of four witnesses, and entered 14 exhibits into evidence; Respondent presented the testimony of four witnesses and entered eight exhibits into evidence.

On October 4, 1995, the Referee served his report in which he found Respondent guilty under Count I of violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 4-5.3(c) for ratifying the misconduct of a non-lawyer associated with a lawyer; Rule 4-8.4(d) for engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice; Rule 4-1.1 for failing to provide competent representation to a client; and Rule 4-4.8 by failing to respond in writing to all investigative inquiries made by the bar counsel's grievance committee under Count I. Under Count II, the Referee found Respondent guilty of violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 4-1.1 for failing to provide competent representation to a

client; Rule 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; Rule 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly complying with reasonable request for information; Rule 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit a client to make informed decisions regarding their representation; Rule 4-2.1 for failing to render candid advice to a client; Rule 4-8.4(d) for engaging in conduct prejudicial to administration of justice; and Rule 3-4.8 for failing to respond in writing to all investigative inquiries made by bar counsel's grievance committee. Referee recommended the Respondent be suspended for fixed period of ninety-one (91) days, and thereafter until Respondent shall have taken and passed the ethics portion of The Florida Bar examination, and for an indefinite period until Respondent shall have paid the cost of these proceedings and has made restitution to Frances-Lopez in the amount of \$750.00, and Clayton I. Jordan, Jr. in the amount of \$847.00.

The Report of Referee was presented to the Board of Governors of the Florida Bar for consideration at its December 1995, meeting. Bar counsel thereafter was directed not to file a petition for review in this matter. The Respondent's Petition for Review was served on December 13, 1995.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Stanley Brown is an immigration consultant with offices at 601 North 7th Street in Ft. Pierce, Florida. (TR-8) This is in a building owned by Flowers out of which he practices law. In June of 1991 Shirley Frances visited Mr. Brown in his office seeking his immigration services. (TR-9,10) At the first meeting Mr. Brown gave Ms. Frances written information on what she needed to gather in order to prepare forms and advised that she would have to have an attorney. (TR-10) There was no mention of Flowers' name in this regard. Ms. Frances agreed to Brown's representation and she paid him \$500.00. (TR-11) The following October Ms. Frances, together with other clients of Mr. Brown, went to Tampa to get registered in the program for the Immigration and Legalization Office. (TR-11) At this point in time there was no discussion about Flowers representing Ms. Frances. (TR-12) her affidavit, which was admitted into evidence, Ms. Frances stated she paid Brown an additional \$250.00, which was denied by Brown. (TR-13,14) After Ms. Frances was registered she was given a date for an interview and was told that she would need to take various forms and see a lawyer.

The date for Ms. Frances' interview was rescheduled to

December 16th and when Brown advised Ms. Francis of this he also

reminded her that she must see a lawyer. (TR-15) After again

advising Ms. Frances that she needed to see an attorney he did not

hear anything from her until 1994 when she contacted him and asked for her money back. (TR-18) Not only did Ms. Frances fail to keep any appointment with Flowers, he has never met her and has never collected a fee of any type from her. (TR-44)

With respect to Count II, Carrie Jacobs went to see Flowers in 1986 to set up a guardianship for her deceased sister's children. (TR-76) The guardianship was established in 1987 and Ms. Jacobs and her brother-in-law, Ellison Winn were appointed guardians. (TR-89) By November 1987 physical custody of the three children were with three different custodians. (TR-90,91)

Since an annual accounting for the guardianship had not been made Judge Scott Kenney appointed Kevin Hendrickson as guardian ad litem to determine if there had been any wrongdoing. (TR-98)

After Mr. Hendrickson reviewed all the pertinent materials he reported to the Court that the guardianship estate had not suffered any losses. (TR-109)

In June 1989 Flowers contracted organic pesticide poisoning.

(TR-136) He was hospitalized at Lawnwood Medical Center and

Treasure Coast Rehabilitation Hospital through October 1989.

Towards the end of the year he began experiencing further trouble and was again hospitalized. (TR-137,138) After his release from the hospital Flowers' wife, Mary, had a recurrence of a long-standing heart problem. (TR-138) During attempted by-pass surgery she expired on July 24, 1990. (TR-139)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee's recommendation that the Respondent be suspended for a period of 91-days fails to take into consideration all of the mitigating circumstances that are involved in this case. The uncontradicted evidence shows that during the times relevant to the improper actions on the part of Respondent were during a period when Respondent was critically ill after sustaining pesticide poisoning, and being hospitalized essentially the latter half of 1989, followed by the terminal illness of his wife which culminated in her death in July 1990.

The recommendation that Shirley Frances-Lopez should be repaid \$750.00 fails to take into consideration that Respondent never receive \$750.00 from Ms. Frances-Lopez and in fact the uncontroverted evidence is that Respondent never saw her. Further, there is no suggestion in the record the Respondent exhibited any dishonest or selfish motive.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE REFERE'S RECOMMENDATION OF SUSPENSION FOR 91-DAYS FAILS TO CONSIDER ALL THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

It is wrong that Respondent did not ensure that timely annual accounts in the guardianship were filed. It is easily understandable why this frustrated the trial judge (TR-108) and lead to the appointment of a guardian ad litem. (TR-98) The problems with the guardianship started with the 1989 accounting. (TR-107) This period coincides with the Respondent's serious illness and culminated with the death of his wife in July 1990.

As stated by this Court in <u>The Florida Bar v Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1980):

* * * We recognize that each case must be assessed individually and in determining the punishment we should consider the punishment imposed on other attorneys for similar conduct. * * *

In The Florida Bar v Collier, 385 So.2d 95 (Fla. 1980) the court approved the recommendation of a referee for 60-days suspension of an attorney that was guilty of extremely dilatory administration of an estate and failure to properly comply with orders of the probate court. Similarly, in the case at bar we have the Respondent who was extremely dilatory in administration of a guardianship and failed to respond to orders of the probate court.

Standard 3.0 suggests those factors to be considered in imposing sanctions. Some of these factors are the lawyers mental state, and existence of aggravating or mitigating factors.

Standard 9.3 sets forth factors that may be considered in mitigation, to-wit, presence of a dishonest or selfish motive; personal or emotional problem; physical or mental disability or impairment. In the case at bar it is submitted referee failed to properly consider the mitigating circumstances in question.

THE REFEREE ERRED IN RECOMMENDING SHIRLEY FRANCES-LOPEZ BE REPAID \$750.00.

In <u>Colonial Press of Miami, Inc. v Sanders</u>, 264 So.2d 92 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972) the District Court held:

* * * An attorney has no power to act for another as legal representative or counsel by virtue of his license alone. He must have a contract of employment, express or implied, with the party for whom he purports to act or someone authorized to represent that party.

Although Shirley Frances-Lopez did not testify at the hearing before the referee her affidavit was submitted as Exhibit 1. (TR-38) The affidavit was filed years after the event in question, and clearly the motivating cause is Ms. Frances-Lopez's desire to get her money back from someone and it matters not who. The money was given to Stanley Brown for his services as a naturalization consultant and it is uncontradicted that the Respondent received nothing for his non-services.

CONCLUSION

Whether respondent violated certain rules promulgated by this court is not an issue in this petition for review. Referee found specific rule violations and his report comes to this court with a presumption of correctness. The issue to be determined is whether the discipline recommended by the referee is appropriate. Clearly it is not. Referee's recommendation for punishment is too severe, and fails to take into account: 1) the mitigating circumstances involved; and 2) the fact respondent received no monies from which restitution can be made.