FILED SID J

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

**Grant Deputy Hork** 

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 85,757 [TFB Case Nos. 95-30,713 (19B) and 95-30,360 (19B)]

v.

RALPH LORENZO FLOWERS,

1

Respondent.

#### THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The bar has no objection to the respondent's statement of the case in pages two and three of his initial brief. However, the respondent's statement of the facts, beginning on page 4 of his brief, do not comport with the findings of fact made by the referee in his October 4, 1995, report. Therefore, the following facts are taken directly from the referee's report:

#### <u>As To Count I</u>

Shirley Frances-Lopez ("Frances-Lopez") was referred to and sought the legal assistance of the respondent for her immigration case in the Summer of 1991. Frances-Lopez went to 601 North 7th Street, Ft. Pierce, St. Lucie County, Florida, and met with L. Stanley Brown, an immigration consultant. The address of 601 North 7th Street contains the law offices of the respondent, an office for L. Stanley Brown, and two offices for Charles W. Cherry, out of which he operates the Florida Courier, a weekly newspaper. The only sign identifying the building is painted in white capital letters on a red door and states:

> 601 LAW OFFICES OF RALPH L. FLOWERS 407-461-2711

There is a side entrance to the building which leads to a hallway behind the respondent's offices. The side entrance is blocked by a chain-link fence but otherwise appears accessible from the street.

Frances-Lopez believed that L. Stanley Brown worked with the respondent and that the respondent would be handling her immigration case. In June, 1991, Frances-Lopez paid \$500.00 to L. Stanley Brown, the receipt of which L. Stanley Brown acknowledges, and believed her payment was for the respondent's representation. L. Stanley Brown arranged to have Frances-Lopez and others transported from Ft. Pierce to Tampa, Florida, to register with the immigration office. A money order was written on July 1, 1991, by Frances-Lopez to pay an additional \$250.00 to L. Stanley Brown. L. Stanley Brown testified, but produced no exhibits, that additional appointments were made with Frances-Lopez to prepare her for the immigration hearing in 1991. The respondent acknowledged that he identified Frances-Lopez as his client to the United States Department of Justice, Immigration and Naturalization, that he received a notice of a scheduled appointment for Frances-Lopez and passed it on to L. Stanley

Brown, but that he did not meed with Frances-Lopez, and denies representing her and receiving money from her.

referee found that the evidence established that The Frances-Lopez believed she was represented by the respondent in this immigration matter, that \$750.00 was paid to L. Stanley Brown for those services, some services were performed and others were not, and that the respondent violated the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar as charged. The referee further found that, although the respondent contended that Frances-Lopez was never a client, had never met with him, had paid no money directly to him, and had not received any legal representation from him, he nonetheless allowed a condition to exist whereby Frances-Lopez reasonably believed she was receiving legal representation from the respondent. The referee visited the respondent's office during a recess at the final hearing. L. Stanley Brown maintains an office which is accessible only after entering the front door of offices marked, "Law Offices of Ralph L. Flowers". After entering the respondent's reception area which is staffed by the respondent's secretary, a client of Mr. Brown would then enter through an unmarked door in an alcove to a hallway leading to the

office of L. Stanley Brown, which is marked only by a faded stick-on letter "O". Therefore, the referee found that although the means exist, there was no effort made to distinguish the respondent's offices from that of his tenant, the immigration consultant L. Stanley Brown. The testimony compelled the referee to find Frances-Lopez a client in fact of the respondent.

#### <u>As To Count II</u>

The respondent represented Carrie Jacobs-Scott ("Jacobs-Scott") in 1987 as a co-guardian for three minor children of Jacobs-Scott's deceased sister in Guardianship Case No. 87-658-CP in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida. The respondent failed to file annual accountings on behalf of Jacobs-Scott for the minor children in the years 1989, 1990 and 1991. The respondent did not respond to the Order To Show Cause served upon Jacobs-Scott and on March 27, 1992, she was removed as co-guardian for the wards. Attorney Kevin Hendrickson was court appointed as guardian ad litem to review the guardianship. His investigation established that the guardianship funds had not been mismanaged and Jacobs-Scott was reappointed as sole guardian for the two remaining wards.

Guardianship funds were expended to compensate Mr. Hendrickson's work. Jacobs-Scott repeatedly contacted the respondent regarding the orders to show cause she received in the guardianship case but the respondent failed to file proper accountings and to properly communicate with and advise Jacobs-Scott in the matter. The referee found the evidence was clear and convincing that the respondent violated the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar as charged.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The respondent seeks review of the referee's recommended discipline of a 91 day suspension on the basis that the referee failed to consider all the mitigating circumstances. Apparently, the respondent believes the referee failed to apply the mitigating factors with respect to his misconduct in Count II regarding the guardianship matter. However, mitigating evidence was presented to and considered by the referee and the respondent has failed to show the referee's recommendation of a 91 day suspension was erroneous or unwarranted.

It is within the discretion of the referee to recommend restitution as part of a disciplinary sanction. Restitution is not dependent upon whether or not a respondent actually received the funds in question. The referee made a specific finding that the recipient of the proposed restitution was, in fact, a client of the respondent's. There was no abuse of discretion and the restitution recommended by the referee is warranted in this case.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

# THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF SUSPENSION FOR 91 DAYS CONSIDERS ALL THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

During the final hearing on July 28, 1995, the respondent testified, in substantial detail, about his serious health problems that began in or around June, 1989. It is apparent, and the bar does not dispute, that the respondent had a lifethreatening affliction and was hospitalized for a considerable period of time. (T, pp. 136-138). The respondent also testified that his wife had a heart condition and underwent a bypass operation during the time of the respondent's illness which resulted in her death on July 24, 1990. (T, pp.138-139). However, the respondent testified that in regard to his representation of Carrie Jacobs-Scott in the guardianship matter, his health problems did not affect his ability to represent his client. (T, pp. 143-145). When the respondent's counsel offered introduce medical documentation in to relation to the respondent's testimony about his health problems, the referee did not accept the offered evidence because it would not be relevant as the respondent had testified that his health had nothing to do

with his representation in the guardianship matter. (T, p. 146).

The mitigating factors under the Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions include Standard 9.32(c) personal and emotional problems; and 9.32(h) physical or mental disability or impairment. It is clear that the respondent presented mitigating evidence of his physical problems during the period of his representation in the guardianship matter and mitigating evidence of his personal problems related to the death of his wife. Even if logic dictates that such tragic circumstances would tend to adversely affect one's ability to perform work related functions, the respondent testified that he did not feel these problems affected his ability to represent his clients. However, it is apparent the referee considered this mitigating evidence because he included in his report of referee, at page 5, where he stated:

Respondent (sic) hospitalized with debilitating illness June through October 1989 and convalesced through July 1990. Respondents (sic) wife Mary died July 24, 1990, during heart surgery. Mary had a long-standing heart condition and received her first bypass operation in 1984.

The referee also apparently considered the respondent's prior disciplinary history in making his recommendation which is an aggravating factor under Standard 9.22(a). The referee listed on

page 5 of his report the respondent's disciplinary record which consists of three prior occasions where the respondent received discipline.

The respondent admits in his initial brief that he was extremely dilatory in the administration of the guardianship and that he failed to respond to orders of the probate court. He compares his misconduct to that of The Florida Bar v. Collier, 385 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1980) in which the attorney received a 60 day suspension for being extremely dilatory in the administration of an estate and failing to respond to orders of the probate court. However, the referee's recommendation of a 91 day suspension in this case is not solely concerning the guardianship matter as the respondent was also found guilty in Count I regarding the immigration matter. The 91 day suspension recommendation coincides with other bar disciplinary cases involving neglect of an estate matter and other violations.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Crowder</u>, 585 So. 2d 935 (Fla. 1991), the attorney received a six month suspension for writing unauthorized checks to himself from the account of an estate for which he served as personal representative and for neglecting the

affairs of the estate. The referee made the six month suspension recommendation because the attorney's cumulative misconduct in handling the funds and the affairs of the estate amounted to serious professional violations. In making that recommendation, the referee considered the mitigating evidence of the attorney's advanced age, his 38% years as a member of the bar, and his prior record.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Kates</u>, 387 So. 2d 947 (Fla. 1980), the attorney received a 91 day suspension for neglect in advising and assisting a client who failed to perform her duties as executrix of an estate resulting in her removal as personal representative and the loss of her fee for administering the estate. The attorney was also found guilty of failing to properly account for trust moneys concerning the same client as in the estate matter. The attorney had previously received a disciplinary suspension of 90 days for neglecting a client's legal matter.

It is clear that in this case, the referee's findings of fact were based on competent, substantial evidence and in making his disciplinary recommendation, the referee considered the

mitigating and aggravating evidence present. The respondent has failed to show the referee's recommendation of a 91 day suspension is erroneous or unjustified under the circumstances.

#### POINT II

# THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN RECOMMENDING SHIRLEY FRANCES-LOPEZ BE REPAID \$750.00.

In seeking review of the referee's recommendation that he \$750.00 in restitution to Shirley Frances-Lopez, the pay respondent appears to dispute the referee's finding that Frances-Lopez was a client in fact of the respondent. A referee's findings of fact carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. record. In reaching his findings of fact, the referee 1986). consistently refers to the testimony and documentary evidence presented at the final hearing which led him to conclude Frances-Lopez was a client in fact of the respondent. Clearly, the referee's finding in that regard is supported by the record.

The respondent suggests that Frances-Lopez's affidavit, submitted by the bar into evidence at the final hearing (BarEx.1) in lieu of her live testimony, was motivated by her desire to get her money back. However, the referee considered not only Frances-Lopez's affidavit, but the testimony of the respondent and L. Stanley Brown as well as the other documentary evidence submitted. The referee found that evidence established that Frances-Lopez believed she was represented by the respondent in the immigration matter, that \$750.00 was paid to L. Stanley Brown for those services, and that some of the services were performed and others were not. (RR, p. 2). It is apparent the referee found Frances-Lopez's affidavit to be competent and not solely based on a monetary factor.

The respondent further suggests in his initial brief that, because the respondent never received the \$750.00 Frances-Lopez paid to L. Stanley Brown, he should not be required to pay restitution to her as recommended by the referee. Whether the respondent ever received the funds in question is not the point. It was the referee's specific finding that Frances-Lopez was recommended to and sought the services of the respondent and that in paying L. Stanley Brown she was paying the respondent for his services. This was because the respondent allowed a situation to exist whereby a person seeking immigration assistance and meeting with L. Stanley Brown could reasonably expect and believe that he or she was receiving representation by the respondent. Had the respondent not allowed this situation to exist, perhaps Frances-Lopez would not have paid \$750.00 for services she did not

receive.

In The Florida Bar v. Lawless, 640 So. 2d 1098 (Fla. 1994), a case similar to the instant matter, the attorney received a 90 suspension for failing to adequately supervise day his paralegal's handling of a client's immigration matter. A couple sought the attorney's immigration services and the attorney allowed his paralegal to handle the matter with assurances he was overseeing the paralegal's work. Without attorney's the knowledge, the couple paid funds directly to the paralegal over a period of time but never received the immigration services for which they had hired the attorney. The paralegal kept the couple's funds and did not turn the funds over to the attorney. The attorney was required to pay restitution to the couple for the funds they paid to the paralegal. The Court found that whether the attorney ever received the money was not at issue as the attorney was responsible for the conduct of his nonlawyer employee and must reimburse the clients. In the case at hand, the referee found the respondent was the responsible party, not L. Stanley Brown or Frances-Lopez and, therefore, the respondent should be required to pay restitution.

Pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.1(i), a referee is permitted to order restitution "if the disciplinary order finds that the respondent has received a clearly excessive, illegal, or prohibited fee or that the respondent has converted trust funds or property." While the referee did not specifically find the respondent guilty of an excessive fee, that is essentially what occurred in this case. Frances-Lopez paid \$750.00 for legal services she believed were to be provided by the respondent, but she did not receive the benefit for which she paid. The Court has upheld a referee's recommendation of restitution where an attorney has charged a clearly excessive fee. <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Della-Donna</u>, 583 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1989).

The respondent does not seek review of the referee's recommendation of restitution with respect to the guardianship matter in Count II of the bar's Complaint. Therefore, the respondent recognizes that restitution is permitted in bar disciplinary proceedings. Restitution as to Count I is no less warranted than in Count II, particularly when it was the referee's finding that the respondent was responsible for Frances-Lopez's payment of fees to L. Stanley Brown. The respondent has not shown the referee's recommendation of

restitution to Shirley Frances-Lopez to be erroneous.

.

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar prays this Honorable Court will review the referee's recommendation of a 91 day suspension and restitution to Shirley Frances-Lopez in the amount of \$750.00 and find that the recommended discipline and restitution are appropriate and warranted under the circumstances of this case.